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“A much needed book . . . With clarity, conciseness, and a sure hand, Christina Shelton guides the reader through what has become a nearly impenetrable jungle of controversy.”


—Tennent H. Bagley, author of Spy Wars


“A vigorous reappraisal of the Hiss-Chambers espionage affair, leaving no doubt of Hiss’s guilt. A solid look at the specifics of the case as well as a useful overview of the ideological debate gripping America.”


—Kirkus


“Shelton makes clear what Hiss did and the impact it had on U.S. counterintelligence. . . . A well-done book written by someone who knows.”


—David Murphy, retired chief of Soviet operations at CIA HQ and author of What Stalin Knew


“Shelton ably captures the real Alger Hiss with overpowering evidence that he was indeed a communist spy. This book carefully connects Hiss to America’s political elite. . . .”


—Burton Folsom, Jr., and Anita Folsom, authors of FDR Goes to War


THE FACTS ARE THERE.


The FDR administration was warned in 1939 that high-level government official Alger Hiss might be a Soviet spy. State Department memos, declassified decades later, show that by 1946 most of the security staff believed Hiss was an undercover Communist agent. Hiss used his authority to obtain top-secret reports outside his area of responsibility, including the Manhattan Project. A State Department internal security investigation in 1946 finally placed restrictions on Hiss’s access to confidential documents, but Hiss had already been a key player at Yalta and in the founding of the United Nations.


SO WHY WERE THESE WARNINGS STILL IGNORED?


“I had attacked an intellectual and a liberal. A whole generation felt itself on trial.” —Whittaker Chambers









In 1948, former U.S. State Department official Alger Hiss was accused of being a Soviet spy. Because the statute of limitations on espionage had run out, he was convicted only of perjury. Decades later—after the Hiss trial had been long forgotten by most—archival evidence surfaced confirming the accusations: a public servant with access to classified documents had indeed passed crucial information to the Soviets for more than a decade.


Yet many on the American Left still consider Hiss an iconic figure—an innocent victim accused of unsubstantiated crimes. They prefer to focus on the collectivist ideals Hiss stood for, rather than confront the reality of a man who systematically and methodically betrayed his country.


Former U.S. Intelligence analyst Christina Shelton employs an in-depth knowledge of Soviet intelligence affairs as well as recently released Hungarian and KGB archival material to shine a fresh light on one of the most famous espionage cases. The story is dramatic, but Shelton’s analysis goes beyond sensationalism as she explores both the ideological motivation behind Hiss’s behavior and the lasting influence it has had on U.S. foreign policy.


Why exactly were the intellectual elite so determined that Hiss was innocent? His accuser, Time magazine senior editor Whittaker Chambers—originally Hiss’s Soviet handler—presented compelling written evidence. However, the intelligentsia were intent on supporting one of their own. They ignored the facts, a willful blindness that helped contribute to a polarization still in place in our country today.


Thirty years of intelligence analysis gives Shelton the expertise to approach the story from many different angles, especially:


• Her persuasive argument that Communism and Fascism are not polar opposites, as has so long been claimed, but highly similar ideologies.


• How Hiss’s central role at the Yalta Conference and the founding of the United Nations are examples of the significance of Soviet intelligence recruitment of high-level Americans who could influence U.S. foreign policy in their favor.


• Why the silence surrounding the implications of Hiss’s espionage continues—and why apologists fear that smearing his name would undercut New Deal policies and the United Nations.


 


Shelton doesn’t just detail the body of evidence pointing to Hiss’s guilt; she suggests new layers of meaning in light of the current political landscape.


Today, the importance of understanding Hiss’s ideological commitment has never been more vital. His advocacy of collectivism and internationalism still resonate among the political elite, making this book an important and timely analysis of American thought at this critical juncture in our country’s life.
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CHRISTINA SHELTON is a retired U.S. intelligence analyst who spent more than two decades of her thirty-two-year career working as a Soviet analyst and a Counterintelligence Branch Chief at the Defense Intelligence Agency. She also served in other intelligence agencies and as a staff analyst at several think tanks.
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INTRODUCTION BY RICHARD PIPES



 


 


Although the “Hiss affair” is more than half a century old, there are still people who disregard the incontrovertible evidence that Alger Hiss was a Soviet spy, proclaiming him a victim of anti-Red hysteria. It is indeed difficult to understand how a member of the American elite could maintain a double existence. Christina Shelton has collected all the available evidence about this controversial figure and in the process illuminated the motives behind his treachery. Hiss belonged to the class of Americans who, persuaded by the Depression that the country’s political and economic regime was doomed, looked to the Soviet regime for salvation. They betrayed their country convinced that in so doing they were serving it. Hiss, she concludes, “closed his mind, blind to the inhumanity of Communism, and adopted Lenin’s notion that the choice of revolution is ultimate and irrevocable, an act of passion as well as intellect. Hiss worked hard to appear urbane and sophisticated, and behind this persona was his single-minded devotion to Communism, leading to a lifetime of defiance and denying any wrongdoing.” This judgment is supported by a wealth of evidence that illuminates the complex story of Soviet espionage in the United States. The main characters involved in this story are convincingly portrayed and their motives explained. This account should put to rest any lingering doubts about Alger Hiss’s treachery.


 


Richard Pipes
Cambridge, Mass.
October 2011




 



FOREWORD



 


 


During the late 1940s, a high-level State Department official, Alger Hiss, was accused of spying for the Soviet Union by a senior editor of Time magazine, Whittaker Chambers, who previously had been a Soviet agent and Hiss’s “handler.” For two years, the political drama of the congressional hearings and Hiss trials made headline news throughout the country. The case was particularly contentious, given Hiss’s prominence, the political climate of an incipient anti-Communism movement during the Truman administration, and, most importantly, because of the ideological rupture that unfolded. Battle lines were drawn between the right and the left that remain to this day. Hiss eventually was convicted of perjury related to espionage. The evidence that was crucial to the government’s case included stolen State Department classified documents, microfilms with classified material, and handwritten notes—all of which came to be known collectively as the “Pumpkin Papers”—that Hiss had turned over to Chambers for passage to Soviet military intelligence. Chambers had secreted them prior to his defection for his own future protection and then presented them shortly before the perjury trials began.


For scholars and intelligence professionals versed in Soviet espionage, this book covers familiar ground, such as the biographical material on Whittaker Chambers and Alger Hiss, as well as details of the case. However, for most readers today, the Hiss story is unfamiliar territory. It is history—and little-known history at that, in an age when biogenetics and nanotechnology studies take precedence over branches of learning in history. If they know anything about the Hiss saga, even some older current-day readers have only a vague, distant memory of a spy story, pumpkin papers, and a typewriter. This book makes the Hiss story accessible to the modern reader and draws attention to its relevance today.


The book describes and assesses many aspects of Hiss’s complicated life and looks at the importance of the Hiss story from a variety of perspectives. Foremost among them, and unlike most other books that have been written on the subject, this account views the Hiss story as much more than a spy case; it goes beyond the case itself, beyond the “Pumpkin Papers,” taking it to another dimension. The first and most important perspective of this narrative is the ideological one. This assessment focuses on placing Hiss in the strategic context of American political philosophy and Communist ideology. An ideological perspective is essential to the Hiss story since it is what drove his political thinking and his behavior. The philosophical political struggle within the United States for more than two centuries, and so evident today, has been between individuals like Hiss, who believed in statism—concentrating extensive power in the federal government—and those who advocate individual liberty and limited, decentralized government. A further aspect of the ideological struggle in Hiss’s day played out on the international stage. Particular attention is paid in the book to the nature of Communism and Fascism, the Nazi-Soviet Pact, Stalin’s role at Yalta, and the reasons for Chambers’s break with the party and Marxism-Leninism, which revealed the true nature of the Soviet system. These events and issues were an intimate part of Hiss’s life; how he reacted to these developments is closely examined.


The book also draws attention to the ongoing intellectual perversity of American academia in its mistaken assessment of the historical realities of the crimes of the Soviet system. This intellectual willfulness has been exposed—in all the unlikely places and by all people—in a May 2010 interview with Izvestiya by Russian president Dmitri Medvedev. In the most damning public assessment of the Soviet Union to date by a Russian leader, Medvedev accused the Soviet state of being “totalitarian in nature . . . a regime that suppressed basic rights and freedoms” and he acknowledged the crimes against humanity by both Stalin and the Soviet system. By contrast, during the past half century in the United States, if one described the Soviet Union as a totalitarian state one was considered a troglodyte by most in American academia. The primary themes of ideology, Communism, and the Soviet system are interwoven throughout this book because they are intrinsic to the Hiss story and what motivated him. In addition to viewing Hiss in terms of ideology, I address the actual case against the backdrop of Communist infiltration of the U.S. government and the politics of the 1930s and 1940s, specifically the New Deal administration. New Deal politics were fundamental to Hiss’s beliefs and career; and Hiss was devoted to its policies.


A second perspective concerns the personalities of the main players. I examine the backgrounds of those individuals who had a great influence on Hiss and were important to understanding Hiss’s life, including his wife, Priscilla, and Whittaker Chambers, Hiss’s close friend, Soviet “handler,” and ultimately his accuser. Hiss’s experience at Harvard Law School and his relationship with his mentor, Felix Frankfurter, also provide insights into his political thinking. Some of Hiss’s associates in the International Juridical Association and his professional colleagues in the Ware Group, an underground Soviet intelligence cell based in Washington, D.C., contributed to his political development and they are discussed at length. A few of them were forceful influences and prime movers in Hiss’s radicalization. In sketching the biographies of some of these men, it becomes clear how they fit the template used by Soviet intelligence for recruitment at that time: highly intellectual, educated, credentialed, and well-placed persons who could be moved into government positions that provided access to state secrets.


I also explore the significance of Soviet influence operations. Hiss’s various roles at the State Department are relevant here, including the position he held when he was responsible for wartime China policy and especially his roles at the Yalta and UN conferences. Hiss’s story is about not just espionage, but also how he was in a position from his post at the State Department to influence U.S. foreign policy to accommodate Soviet objectives. In this sense Hiss was a key figure in the history of the twentieth century.


Hiss’s character and the different dimensions of his personality form another important aspect to this story. I draw attention to the human side of Hiss and his affection toward his wife, Priscilla, and especially his son, Tony. Material consisting of hundreds of Hiss’s family papers and personal correspondence, recently made available at New York University’s Tamiment Library archives, reflects a warm, caring, and sensitive person. Moreover, a striking aspect of his personality was his drive to develop the “persona” of a well-bred, sophisticated intellectual, which he spent the first half of his life accomplishing; the second half of his life was devoted to a remarkable, unceasing drive to achieve vindication. True to Leninist morality, Hiss never broke.


Finally, the book underscores the many missed opportunities and cases of poor judgment in terms of identifying Hiss’s ties to Soviet military intelligence. In fact, the Hiss story represents a huge American counterintelligence failure. Part of this resulted from scotomas, or blind spots, about Hiss and about the nature of the Soviet system. This theme, of scotomas blocking objective assessments about Hiss, runs throughout this book. At the time, government officials such as former U.S. secretary of state Dean Acheson were unable “to see” the evidence even after the FBI briefed them on Hiss as a security risk. Over the years, blind spots continued to prevent Hiss’s defenders from processing the cumulative evidence against him.


The book ends with an amassing of the evidence available to date on the case. Much of it is known. Some relatively recent and very important information, such as data from the KGB archives, is covered in Spies: The Rise and Fall of the KGB in America, an outstanding, comprehensive book by John Earl Haynes, Harvey Klehr, and Alexander Vassiliev on the overall threat of Soviet espionage in the United States during the 1930s and 1940s. But for the first time, all the available evidence involving Alger Hiss, including data from the Hungarian archives, is presented in a book specifically on Hiss.


To this day, the Hiss case remains controversial, although his band of supporters has diminished, especially as KGB archival evidence has been uncovered that clearly points to Hiss as a Soviet military intelligence agent. Nonetheless, Hiss remains a symbol, an iconic figure for those who are more concerned about what he stood for (a collectivist worldview) than about what he did (betray his country).


 


Christina Shelton
New York City
September 2011




 



PROLOGUE



 


 


I CAN HEAR the critics now: another Hiss book—not again—it never ends. Well, true, it doesn’t ever go away; and for good reason. The unending Hiss saga is more than just a famous spy case of the 1930s and 1940s involving Alger Hiss, a high-level government official indicted for perjury, and his nemesis, Whittaker Chambers, a former Soviet military intelligence agent who accused Hiss of espionage against the United States. The players in the Hiss drama are long gone, as are the specific politics of the time that affected the story (the New Deal; President Roosevelt’s wartime accommodation of Stalin’s diplomatic and political objectives; President Truman’s reelection concerns; the start of the Cold War; and “McCarthyism”). At various levels, the Hiss story is of historical importance: on the individual level (the Hiss-Chambers clash); on the national political level (the impact the Hiss case had on the politics of the 1950s); and on the international and strategic level (the effects of Yalta and the founding of the United Nations).


On the ideological level, however, the Hiss narrative is consequential and as current as today’s news stories. The story doesn’t go away, because it has become a symbol of the ongoing struggle for control over the philosophical and political direction of the United States. It is a battle between collectivism and individualism; between centralized planning and local/state authority, and between rule by administrative fiat and free markets. It prompts the question of where does one stand on the relationship of power between the state and the individual, and where does one draw the line in that relationship in order to have stable, rational constitutionalism governing society and to prevent concentration and centralization of power in the state, which always comes at a cost to individual liberty and freedom. Socialist precepts acknowledge this cost by claiming that the collective should take precedence over the individual.


The Hiss case embodies and reflects this ongoing struggle for power. The particular battle playing out during the Hiss-Chambers story in the 1930s and 1940s was between the collectivism and tyranny of Communism and Fascism on the one hand and constitutional democracy on the other. A benign, nonideological contest over the limits of government power existed even between two of the Founding Fathers, Jefferson and Hamilton; this cleavage, however, took place within the context of constitutional limits to power. Jefferson believed limited government offered the best chance of preserving liberty. He argued that to the extent a central government was necessary a strong Congress with a weak executive would be a critical counterbalance. Hamilton, by contrast, wanted a strong central government and executive, at the expense of the legislature. Jefferson saw state sovereignty as a way to check federal encroachment of power, while Hamilton wanted to subordinate local government to centralized power.1


For more than two hundred years, the political course of the United States has reflected an effort to maintain a measured balance between these two positions, to allow individuals the opportunity and freedom to pursue their goals within a contractual framework with the state. During the Hiss era, the New Deal administration, in the name of addressing the economic crisis of the Depression, was upsetting that balance and swinging far over to comprehensive, centralized government control. The issue of overreach and upsetting that balance is back again today. The battle over these two worldviews continues.


In a variation of the dichotomy between individual liberty and tyranny of government, George F. Will, journalist and author, points out, “James Madison asserted that politics should take its bearings from human nature and from the natural rights with which we are endowed, and which pre-exist government. Woodrow Wilson . . . argued that human nature is as malleable and changeable as history itself, and that it’s the job of the state to regulate and guide the evolution of human nature and the changeable nature of the rights we are owed by the government that—in his view—dispenses rights [a view shared by Marxists], . . . Madison said rights pre-exist government. Wilson said government exists to dispense whatever agenda of rights suits its fancy, and to annihilate, regulate, attenuate, or dilute others.”2 Wilson’s statist views, which won wide support among “progressives,” were subsequently adopted by Hiss during the New Deal. Hiss firmly believed in a collectivist political ideology; he believed government was the ultimate instrument of power for solving problems and that the U.S. Constitution should be bent or bypassed to support this view. Hiss put his political belief into practice in his support for Communism and loyalty to the USSR, a state where government authority and power were not limited by the rule of law—in fact it would brook no limit.


Another significant aspect of the Hiss case is how the battle lines were drawn between both sides—the defenders of Hiss and those of Chambers. Which player one supported generally identified a person on the political spectrum, evidence of guilt or innocence notwithstanding. This clear “divide” was particularly true at the time of the Hiss case. Two opposing camps developed, with little middle ground. To put a name to the more obvious members of each camp: Victor Navasky, former publisher of the Nation, was among the most public pro-Hiss supporters; William F. Buckley Jr., founder of the National Review, was representative of those who were pro-Chambers. During the 1950s some of the liberal/left intelligentsia deserted Hiss, including Arthur Schlesinger, Murray Kempton, Lionel Trilling, Leslie Fiedler, I. F. Stone, and Sidney Hook. Over the years, as more and more evidence was disclosed that implicated Hiss as a Soviet asset, other prominent persons who were not on the “right” began to disavow Hiss, such as John Kenneth Galbraith and Senator Daniel Patrick Moynihan.3


Down through the decades, as individuals other than Whittaker Chambers surfaced to identify Hiss as a Communist, and as documentary and archival material has been uncovered in Eastern Europe and the former Soviet Union pointing to Hiss as a Soviet military intelligence asset, the evidence of Hiss’s guilt has become overwhelmingly compelling, cumulative, and convincing.


Yet some Hiss defenders have “dug in” with their strategy of not addressing the conclusive evidence but rather continuing their ad hominem attacks, particularly against Chambers and Richard Nixon, the junior congressman who investigated Hiss during the 1940s hearings of the House Committee on Un-American Activities, and even against Senator Joseph McCarthy, who did not pontificate on the issue of espionage in the United States until after the two Hiss trials were over. This pro-Hiss defense was superbly summed up years later by Anglo-American author and journalist Christopher Hitchens: “If Hiss was wrong, then Nixon and McCarthy were right. And that could not be.”4 Some Hiss defenders even go so far as to cast doubt on the validity of Soviet archival material.


The Hiss defense is understandable when coming from Tony Hiss, Alger Hiss’s son. But other defenders have vested professional reputations in their positions and do not want to suffer what they likely see as the embarrassment of retraction. Some supporters believe that if Hiss were guilty, it would cast a dark shadow over the New Deal, the Yalta Conference, and the United Nations. To them, those stakes would be too high and retraction not worth the price.


Another group of Hiss defenders represents something more troubling. These individuals have a blind spot, or scotoma, from the Greek word for blindness. This phenomenon helps to explain why the Hiss defense continues to this day and keeps the story alive. A scotoma indicates that an individual fails to see or is blind to alternatives; as a result of a sensory locking out of information from the environment, one observes only limited possibilities. People develop scotomas to the truth about the world because of preconceived ideas and beliefs, other people’s preconceived ideas (flat worlds or cultural trances), and past conditioning.5 Scotomas prevent a change in views because people gather information selectively to verify what they already believe. Their minds see what they want to believe; they want to hold on to their version of reality. At times, however, what seem like blind spots may actually be purposeful deceptions.


Now, just who was Alger Hiss as a person? Tony Hiss characterized his father as a complicated and complex person. In his book The View from Alger’s Window, Tony described the “three faces of Alger.” The first was the face he was closest to—the private, personal Alger who was effervescent, playful, gentle, considerate.6 This was how he saw his father. Indeed, the hundreds of letters written by Hiss to his wife during the 1930s and to his wife and son while he was in prison reflect these very qualities.7 It is impossible to read this personal correspondence without seeing the very warm side of Hiss—affectionate and concerned for his wife and especially for his son. Interestingly, Whittaker Chambers also saw this face of Alger; he described Hiss as “a man of great simplicity and a great gentleness and sweetness of character.”8 Tony wrote that the second face was turned outward—Hiss’s public persona, which was somewhat stilted, cautious, not showing any part of his inner self, polished, sophisticated, lawyerly, and aloof. The third face, which Tony did not acknowledge but described as the “Chambers-defined face,” was the dark side: the spy for the Soviet Union.9 An analysis of Hiss’s life reveals that he thoroughly perfected the ability to compartmentalize these different aspects of his persona.


In addition to Tony Hiss’s view, there is a consensus in the body of Hiss literature that Alger was charming—and disarmingly so. I can confirm that to be the case. I had the opportunity to see some aspects of face one and face two of Hiss. I met Alger Hiss at his seventy-fifth birthday party in November 1979 and witnessed the charming side of Alger, as well as his other side: guarded and detached. I had received a phone call from a friend of a friend of a friend who said that Hiss’s annual birthday celebration was coming up but that Alger was somewhat annoyed because the same group of people (in other words, sycophants) was always invited to this event each year, and Hiss wanted some diversity. The person who called me asked if I was interested and of course I jumped at the chance to see this historical figure up close. I also had a professional curiosity, given my background in Soviet affairs. A few days later I caught the shuttle from Washington, D.C., to New York and went to the apartment where the event was taking place.


When I arrived I was the first guest, and the host escorted me into the living room. A few minutes later Alger Hiss walked into the room. He was rather tall, quite thin, and distinguished looking. As I remember, he wore a turtleneck sweater and sport jacket and seemed very relaxed. He clearly had a presence. I introduced myself and had a chance to spend the next fifteen or twenty minutes with him before the others arrived. At one point I had asked some question about Chambers’s book, Witness, and Hiss said he had never read it. Astonished, I loudly and somewhat brashly exclaimed: “What? How is that possible?” I then proceeded to enumerate all the reasons why he should have read it, despite the fact that it was written by his accuser. Hiss mostly listened and said little. Then as the guests arrived, I got up and started to leave the room; Hiss also stood up and asked me to stay. I was standing next to him as each of his many guests came up to him to wish him a happy birthday; some of them really fawned over him. What was strange was that Hiss introduced me to each and every one: “I’d like you to meet Mrs. Shelton.” That was all he said because that was all he knew about me. Each guest looked at me with an expression of intense bewilderment. Evidently they were all part of a small, closed circle of New York’s “left” intelligentsia and thus able to spot an outsider immediately. I am sure they wondered who the hell I was and what I was doing at a birthday party for Alger Hiss.


For the duration of the party, Hiss seemed somewhat indifferent. He glanced across the room, watching whom I was chatting with at different times. The only guest I recall from that evening was a former Communist who had too much to drink and was lamenting to me over lost opportunities. Just to annoy him (he wasn’t sober enough for serious discussion), I reminded him that Stalin had millions of innocent people murdered; he said, with tears in his eyes, “You don’t understand, we were building a new world.” I remember thinking how that Marxist-Leninist “call to action” had such power over man’s ego (a chance to change the planet is, after all, an ego grabber) that it enabled him to dismiss mass murder offhandedly.


When I started to leave to catch the last shuttle back to Washington, Hiss approached me and said he wanted me to meet his son, Tony. We made our way through the crush of people, by now about fifty or more, to the kitchen, where Tony was entertaining guests. After a quick introduction, Hiss helped me with my coat and walked me to the front door. The feedback I received the next day was that I made a big hit with Hiss. To this day I cannot imagine why, after my adversarial fifteen-minute lecture on why he should have read Witness. But I suppose that I was the diversity that he had requested.


In 2009, thirty years after that birthday celebration, I read Tony Hiss’s book on Alger’s prison stay, The View from Alger’s Window. In it, Tony indicated that Alger had read Witness in prison in 1952, when it was serialized in ten consecutive installments in the Saturday Evening Post.10
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The Early Years






I.

GROWING UP IN BALTIMORE



 


 


The Escape from Shabby Gentility


 


 


DURING THE HISS-CHAMBERS congressional hearings in 1948 and the two Hiss perjury trials (May 31, 1949–July 8, 1949, and November 17, 1949–January 21, 1950), Alger Hiss supporters consistently used certain adjectives to describe his “persona” in an attempt to prove his innocence through a character defense: this highly credentialed person, this handsome, well-connected, sophisticated patrician from a socially prestigious family who became a senior State Department official, could not possibly be a Communist spy; the liar certainly must be his accuser, Whittaker Chambers, the stumpy, fat, sloppy, poorly dressed, brooding ex-Commie with particularly bad teeth. Never mind that Chambers was an intellect of a higher order than Hiss, and a senior editor for Time magazine; the narrative in the press of the comparative physical and character descriptions of the two men continued for the duration of the trials, and for that matter, for decades more as well. One of the reasons for Hiss’s lifelong crusade to prove his innocence—in addition to his adherence to Leninist morality, serving the cause as a symbol of American injustice, and protecting the legacy of the New Deal, Yalta, and the UN—was his determination to preserve the “persona” he so assiduously had developed.


The journalist Murray Kempton once famously suggested that Alger Hiss was a product of “shabby gentility.”1 That is not quite on the mark. The Hiss family may have come from gentility but it was certainly not shabby. Growing up, all five children had music and art lessons, as well as German language lessons for Alger. They attended private colleges or universities and vacationed on Maryland’s Eastern Shore. During college, the three boys spent summers in Europe. Not too shabby. Alger Hiss himself, in an obvious reference to Kempton’s description, portrayed the economic circumstances of his early years as “modest” but “not particularly shabby.”2 While the Hisses did represent the gentility of an old Baltimore family, whose first ancestor arrived from Germany in the mid-eighteenth century, they were not blue-blooded, distinguished, or upper class, as even Kempton noted. Mrs. Hiss may have thought of the family as socially prominent, but a more accurate designation would have been “middle class.”


So while Hiss was not a person born into the upper class, he always displayed great self-control and composure, typical characteristics of that class. By virtue of his intelligence and highly successful academic career at Johns Hopkins University and Harvard Law School, as well as his distinctive charming manner, grace, good looks, and sophistication, he turned himself into an exemplar of the eastern upper-class liberal establishment. From the 1920s to 1940s, Hiss gave the impression of good breeding and wealth, when he really used his talents to successfully develop this “persona” while networking with prominent upper-class people he came in contact with during his years at Hopkins and Harvard Law, then his Supreme Court clerkship. Thus did he gain a foothold in their class. In short, he became “the fair-haired boy” of the elite establishment even though his origins did not put him in their class. Moreover, this was an upper-class establishment noted for loyalty among its members. Mrs. Hiss had urged her children to strive for professional and social prominence, and none succeeded more than Alger.


Alger Hiss was born in Baltimore on November 11, 1904, to Charles Alger Hiss (1864–1907) and Mary Lavinia Hughes Hiss (1867–1958). Charles was of German ancestry; his great-great-great-grandfather had changed his name from Hesse to Hiss. His middle name, “Alger,” was given for his grandfather’s old friend, Russell Alexander Alger, who became secretary of war under President McKinley.3 Charles, the last of six children, was educated in Baltimore public schools. After high school, he became a salesman for the Troxell Carriage and Harness Company. He then worked in a cotton textile mill and after that as a salesman and executive for a major Baltimore wholesale dry goods store, Daniel Miller and Company.4 Charles also was an officer of the Fifth Regiment in Baltimore’s National Guard unit. In 1888 he married Mary Hughes, known as “Minnie,” the daughter of a middle-class Baltimore family of English ancestry; according to her, she was directly descended from the Earl of Leicester. Minnie was educated at the Maryland State Teachers College.5


Minnie was by most accounts a devoted mother but she also maintained a busy schedule of club meetings. She was a member of many of Baltimore’s civic and women’s groups, serving as president of the Arundel Club and on the boards of the Women’s Civic League of Women Voters and District Federation of Women’s Clubs.6 Minnie pushed her children to succeed professionally, financially, and socially. According to Whittaker Chambers, Hiss did not speak much of his early years but Chambers’s impression was that “his relations with his mother were affectionate but not too happy. She was perhaps domineering.”7 William Marbury, one of Hiss’s closest friends, also considered Minnie domineering.8


Charles and Minnie had five children: Anna (1893–1972), Mary Ann (1895–1929), Bosley (1900–26), Alger (1904–96), and Donald (1906–89). In 1895, one of Charles’s older brothers, John, died at the age of thirty-three from a heart attack and left a widow and six children. According to one of Hiss’s biographers, John Chabot Smith, Charles became the “financial and emotional care taker of his brother’s family.”9 Thus Charles and Minnie’s five children grew up in a rather large extended family, with their six cousins who lived a few blocks away. The eleven children played together (board games, charades, spelling bee contests), had family meals together, and went to church and Sunday school at the neighborhood Episcopal church every Sunday. Religious training and Bible reading played a central role in the Hiss household. Minnie later transferred to the Presbyterian Church and after that to the Unitarian Church.10 Alger remained an Episcopalian but stopped going to church when he left home.11


The Hiss family lived near Lanvale Street in Baltimore, a middle-class neighborhood, in a three-story, semidetached brick house. Charles prospered in his business and eventually became part owner of the Daniel Miller Company. He helped his wife’s brother, Albert Hughes, get a job at his company as treasurer. Unfortunately for Charles, Albert seemed to have become involved in some unsuccessful investments of company funds,12 which Charles felt obliged to repay by selling his own company stock. In the process, Charles lost his job. He was forty-two years old, the mainstay of eleven children, in poor health, and he was unable to find another job. An older brother, George, offered to take him in as a partner to help run his successful cotton mill in North Carolina. Charles would have accepted, but Minnie refused to leave Baltimore; she valued her place in Baltimore’s “genteel” society as a respected woman who attended concerts and art galleries and belonged to the proper clubs.13 Charles’s depression grew deeper and on April 7, 1907, he committed suicide by slitting his throat with a razor blade.14 Alger was about two and a half years old.


The suicide of Alger’s father was kept a close family secret. The Hiss children were so protected from it that the tragedy was treated as a nonevent in their family. Alger revealed in his memoir that he and his brother Donald did not learn of it until they were about ten and eight, respectively, when they overheard neighbors refer to them as “the children of the suicide.”15 Alger related this comment to his older brother, Bosley, who apparently also had been unaware of the family tragedy. Bosley confirmed the suicide from an obituary in the Baltimore Sun. This is how the three sons learned of their father’s death about eight years earlier. Alger revealed that hearing the comment by the neighbors was one of the most painful episodes in his early years. Yet he claimed he did not feel resentment at not being told, and that when he did learn of the secret, he “joined in the family policy of silence.”16


Charles left Minnie with their five children to raise, and his deceased brother John’s widow and six children to care for as well. Minnie did receive a $100,000 insurance policy, in addition to having the family home, and each of her five children inherited a $10,000 trust (equivalent today to about $200,000).17 Given their financial position, it is curious that during Alger’s early life he always indicated that he lacked money. He said, “As our family financial resources were moderate, I applied for and received scholarships each year at Hopkins and Harvard.”18 He also claimed, according to one of his biographers, Meyer Zeligs, that “for financial reasons” he needed to go to college in Baltimore in order to live at home.19 At the end of his sophomore year at Hopkins, Hiss was able to afford a trip to Europe only because of the newly innovated Student Third Class, which made European travel affordable for “students of modest means like myself,” Hiss said. Traveling in Europe, he was on a budget of four dollars a day and he lamented that he could afford only an “occasional bottle of decent wine.”20 Not exactly the profile of a patrician.


Given the rather substantial trust he inherited, it is unclear why Alger did feel so strapped for money during these years and thought it necessary to depend on school loans and family money. Perhaps, in relative terms, he felt poor because he had surrounded himself with so many people of wealth and privilege. When he was at Johns Hopkins, he recalled that he was moved by the book What Price Glory, which, according to John Chabot Smith, “confirmed his antiwar views and his distrust for militarism.” Yet he was in ROTC, which he said provided him with a modest stipend and a uniform to wear once a week, which saved him money on his other clothes! So he stayed in ROTC for the monetary benefits.21 Even later in life, when he was earning a good salary at a prestigious law firm at the beginning of the Depression, his letters to his wife, Priscilla, reflected this same preoccupation with insufficient money. For example, in one letter Hiss enumerated the Christmas gifts he bought for his family in Baltimore; one was for an aunt—a pair of skating socks for eighty-five cents—and he was going to split the cost with his brother Donald and give it to her as a joint gift. In fact, he wrote that he bought eight Christmas gifts and Donald’s share for them was $4.60.22 As an attorney for a prestigious law firm in Boston, Hiss wrote in a letter to his wife in March 1932 that “I found a restaurant that has a great lunch for fifteen cents.”23 Years later, in 1947, after he moved to New York as president of the Carnegie Endowment, with a sizable salary, Alger rented a small third-floor walk-up apartment in Greenwich Village. Chambers observed that Hiss did not seem to be interested in “things”—his home furnishings, cars, and taste in food were all rather simple. Nonetheless, there was always enough money for a maid or a cook for his wife, Priscilla; private schools for his son, Tony; and season tickets to concerts and the theater.


The first of Minnie’s children was Anna. She played a minor role in the Hiss family over the years and is rarely mentioned in the Hiss literature. She attended Hollins College in Virginia for a year, then graduated from Sargent College (now Boston University) in 1917. After teaching for a year in Baltimore, she moved to Austin to become a physical education instructor at the University of Texas. She spent the next four decades establishing a separate and independent life, attaining a very successful career and making many contributions and innovations to the development of programs and facilities for women’s athletics. Anna became head of the university’s athletic department while also doing graduate work at a variety of universities in the United States and overseas. She retired after spending thirty-six years organizing an advanced women’s athletic program, then moved back to Baltimore in the late 1960s. Anna, who never married, had limited relations with the Hiss family by virtue of living in Texas for so many years.24


Minnie’s second child and second daughter, Mary Ann, attended Bryn Mawr School in Baltimore, then went to Smith College. In 1920 she married Elliot Emerson, an upper-class, well-to-do Boston stockbroker who was seventeen years her senior. In the mid-1920s, Emerson suffered serious financial setbacks and had to borrow money from the Hiss family to avoid bankruptcy. His financial situation remained problematic for the next several years. Mary Ann and her husband had fierce quarrels and separations. She began having emotional problems and was hospitalized two times, once briefly in a sanitarium.25 The Hiss family, again in their secretive way, did not tell Alger, who was in college at the time. Hiss was close to his sister Mary Ann, having had contact with her outside of their Baltimore home, when he was at school from 1921 to 1922 at a private academy in Massachusetts, and when he went to Harvard Law School in 1926. In May 1929, the month before Hiss graduated from Harvard Law, Minnie told Alger that Mary Ann had swallowed a bottle of Lysol, killing herself. She was thirty-four years old. Since Alger was unaware of the emotional and financial stresses in her life, the suicide seemed “sudden and irrational.” He was shocked when he heard the news of her death.26


Bosley (or “Bos” as he was often called) Hiss was Minnie’s third child, and first son. After Charles’s death, Bosley was treated as “the man of the house” even though he was only seven years old at the time. Alger looked up to his older brother and was very fond of him. Bosley turned out to be something of a teenage rebel, running away from home several times. According to Alger, Bosley was handsome, charming, a nonconformist adventurer who drank a lot and partied and womanized.27 Bosley attended Johns Hopkins on scholarship and after he graduated he went to work as a reporter for the Baltimore Sun. He became very ill at a young age and spent time convalescing at Minnie’s house. This arrangement was not successful and led to an estrangement between mother and son.


By the spring of 1924 Bosley was an invalid with malignant Bright’s disease (chronic nephritis). He left home and went to Rye, New York, to live with Margaret Owen, a woman in her forties with whom he had had a relationship before he became ill. Margaret nursed him and, although he was dying, married him.28 Because Margaret, a professional interior decorator, had to be in New York City every day, Alger moved to Margaret’s place in Rye, north of the city, in Westchester County, to help take care of Bosley. It was the summer of 1926 and Alger had just graduated from Hopkins. He drove his brother to the hospital for treatments and read to him and shopped for him. He regarded it as a family duty; Alger considered himself as “the family’s deputed representative.”29 Two months after Alger started law school, Bosley died in November, at age twenty-six. Unlike Mary Ann’s death, this one was expected; Bosley had been seriously ill for almost four years. The deaths of Alger’s siblings were like bookends, one occurring when he started Harvard, the other when he finished.


Despite the family tragedy of his father’s suicide, Alger, the second son and fourth of five children, viewed his life as happy and active. In his memoir he said that on the whole, “my childhood memories are of a lively and cheerful household” and a “warm family spirit.”30 Alger was surrounded mostly by women—mother, aunts, and sisters. He was fond of one aunt in particular. After his father’s death, Aunt Lila, his father’s unmarried oldest sister, moved into the Hiss house at 1427 Linden Avenue to help Minnie take care of the children. Minnie also had a maid to do the cooking and housework. Uncle George in North Carolina, well-to-do from his cotton mill business, supplied regular financial help. Another aunt, Aunt Lucy, moved in with John’s widow and six children to help care for that family. The Hiss clan really seemed to come together to provide support for one another in the face of crises.


Later in life Alger said that his mother and his aunt Lila were the two adults he remembered best from his childhood.31 He revealed that he was in many ways closer to his aunt Lila, who was warm and affectionate and the more sympathetic confidante. His mother was too busy running the family and attending club meetings. Alger felt that his mother’s emphasis on materialism and her ambitions for her children’s success were balanced by Aunt Lila’s commitment to spiritual matters. Aunt Lila shared with the Hiss kids her love for literature and learning and morality. Alger had a fond memory of Aunt Lila reading aloud to them and teaching them how to read aloud as well, as with “modulation of tone, and rhythm and pitch and volume.”32


A cousin Elizabeth recalled that Alger had “a most normal upbringing. He was never unhappy. He cooperated with his dominating mother.” Alger remembered “spending much time in the streets, backyards, and parks roller-skating and playing baseball and football.”33 In addition, Alger delivered spring water to families in the Lanvale neighborhood, who would pay fifteen cents a quart or $2.50 for a five-gallon demijohn of fresh, cold springwater that came out of a spigot in Druid Hill Park. Alger and a school friend walked their wagonful of empty bottles up the hill, filled the bottles, then came back down, selling the water along the way.34


Hiss said his happiest memories were the summers he spent at Aunt Tege’s farm near St. Michaels, on the Eastern Shore of Maryland. He picked tomatoes, helped milk the cows, sheared sheep, and harvested wheat.35 When he was thirteen years old, Minnie thought Alger had outgrown the summer farm life. In 1918 and 1919 she sent him to Camp Wildwood in Maine, where he met boys from elite New England prep schools, such as his lifelong friend, Henry Hill Collins III, and counselors from Ivy League schools. He did well, winning a medal at the end-of-season track meet. He learned bird-watching, which became a lifetime hobby.36


Alger attended high school at Baltimore City College. After graduation, Minnie thought he was too young at sixteen years old to go to college, so she sent him to Powder Point Academy in Duxbury, Massachusetts. To save money, he lived with his sister Mary Ann, who had a place in Duxbury.37 He entered Johns Hopkins, class of 1926. After he graduated from Harvard Law School in 1929, he married Priscilla Fansler on December 11, 1929. They had one son, Tony, born in 1941.


Donald was Minnie’s third son and youngest child. Two years older than Donald, Alger was closest to this sibling and apparently had a great deal of influence over him. Donald Hiss followed a career track that closely paralleled Alger’s: Johns Hopkins and Alpha Delta Phi, Harvard Law School, legal secretary to Oliver Wendell Holmes, government service in the New Deal, membership in the Ware Group, and a State Department position. However, Donald did not make law review at Harvard, as Alger had, and this “brooded on his mind all his life.”38 Donald worked as an attorney at the Department of the Interior, then the Department of Labor. In 1938 he went to work in the State Department until the end of World War II, during which time he was an assistant to Dean Acheson. In 1945, Donald resigned from the State Department for health reasons, he said. He joined the prestigious law firm of Covington, Burling, Rublee, Acheson, & Shorb in Washington, D.C., until his retirement in 1976. He also was a part-time professor of international law at the Johns Hopkins School of Advanced International Studies in Washington, D.C. Donald married the former Catherine Jones and they had three children, Bosley, Cynthia, and Joanna.





II.

HOPKINS AND HARVARD LAW



 


 


Hiss Cultivates an Upper-Class, Eastern Establishment Persona


 


 


IN HIS MEMOIR, Recollections of a Life, Alger Hiss devoted only nine pages to his entire early childhood and wrote almost nothing about his college years at Johns Hopkins. In fact, the book skips from the chapter on his childhood in Baltimore to the chapter on his Harvard Law School experience. He wrote at length about a trip with his brother Donald to Giverny, France, in the summer of 1929. But he made only a few references to his college days. He mentioned that at Hopkins he majored in history and romance languages.1 Another reference was during his discussion of becoming a New Dealer: he said that in his college days he “scorned” politics and thought of it as a “dirty business.” Apparently in retrospect (Hiss wrote his memoir in 1988) his life at Hopkins more than six decades earlier left little impression on him; but he did fault Hopkins for its neglect in covering some of the great political issues of the time. Hiss wrote that “political apathy was the mood of the university.”2 He recalled that there had been “few if any references in Johns Hopkins classes to the Soviet revolution or to the Sacco-Vanzetti case,” one of the most famous trials of the twentieth century.3 Despite this criticism from a 1988 perspective, while attending Hopkins in the 1920s Hiss did not seem to have these intellectual concerns or misgivings about political and social justice. He himself claimed that while in college he was enjoying a cultural, cosmopolitan life.


Hiss’s college record showed that he was highly successful. He participated fully in student activities. He was the editor of the college newspaper, president of the drama club, and president of the student council. He was in ROTC all four years, in his senior year the cadet commander, and ended up with a second lieutenant’s reserve commission. Alger was elected a member of Phi Beta Kappa in his junior year and also to the prestigious Tudor and Stuart Club. He was a member of Alpha Delta Phi, a fraternity that pledged only the wealthiest and most socially acceptable men. He was a member of the Cane Club, a Prohibition-era drinking society whose members carried canes and wore white carnations on special occasions. Hiss was well liked and successful both academically and in extracurricular activities. He was ambitious and driven, but not in a noticeable way, according to Murray Kempton.4 Alger was already developing the persona of a very engaging man. He was voted the “most popular” and the “best all around” and the “best hand-shaker.”5 The yearbook editor’s description of him was “the epitome of success” and most cultured and learned. The editor ended with “Alger is a nice chappie, in spite of his attainments.”6


Alger loved the theater; he and his fraternity brother Charles Ford Reese attended regularly. Charles, who had season tickets, was from the Ford family that owned the Ford Theatre in Baltimore and in earlier generations the famous Ford Theatre in Washington, D.C., site of Lincoln’s assassination. They saw every play that came to Baltimore, sitting in the Ford family’s box. During Christmas recess, Alger would go to New York to see Theater Guild productions of such playwrights as George Bernard Shaw, Luigi Pirandello, and Eugene O’Neill. He stayed at the fraternity club house on Forty-Fourth Street with another fraternity brother.7


Hiss considered himself a Democrat, which was his family’s political affiliation. One of his favorite teachers was Broadus Mitchell, an economics professor who was a socialist. However, Hiss commented years later that “we were so thoroughly inoculated by prevailing social and economic views against his mildly Socialistic opinions that they made no impression on us.”8 Mitchell was liked by most students because he was affable and a lenient grader.9 Hiss said Mitchell’s views may have tended to fortify the distaste that some students had developed for business as a career, but they did not lead them to consider the possibility of structural defects in industrial society.


Hiss was picking up strong antibusiness ideas, being a fan of H. L. Mencken and Shaw. He did not study Marx and Lenin, because these subjects were not taught at Hopkins at the time. Hiss observed, again, decades later, that there was no school of thought that advocated forthright government intervention in the economic life of the nation to redress the lot of those who failed to share in the benefits of the economy. His biographer, John Chabot Smith, said that Hiss’s interests in intellectual matters were not very strong during his college days.10 In fact, Hiss said that of the books he read in college he was most moved and influenced by Somerset Maugham’s Of Human Bondage.11 The book, probably Maugham’s best, is an absorbing novel but no great intellectual challenge.


Whittaker Chambers found Hiss’s intellectual interests lacking. Chambers maintained that his friendship with Hiss was “one of character—not of mind.” Despite his strong legal abilities, “Hiss was not a highly mental man,” compared to the minds Chambers was exposed to at Columbia University (such as Clifton Fadiman, Meyer Schapiro, or Mark Van Doren). Chambers observed that ideas did not interest Hiss, except for Marxist-Leninist doctrine, but even that was only as it applied to current politics, not theory or history. Chambers said Hiss never drew his attention to important books; moreover, Hiss didn’t like Shakespeare, calling the Bard’s works “platitudes in blank verse.”12 The comment was later denied by some Hiss supporters.13


In an unpublished paper by Hiss, cited in Ivan Chen’s 2008 online account of Hiss at Harvard, Hiss wrote about the foundations of his liberalism and claimed that he was already politically and socially progressive when he went to college.14 There doesn’t seem to be evidence to support this position; most of the Hiss literature actually portrays him as politically neutral while at Hopkins and more involved in developing his persona and in enjoying a cultured social life. The one exception was his acknowledged dislike for big business, which he voiced from time to time. Hiss also noted in the same unpublished paper that his idealism drew him to the subordination of private gain to the welfare of others.15 Again, this view of redistribution appears to be a position Hiss may have held in theory only while in college. In practice, Hiss seemed thoroughly to enjoy the benefits of wealthy and prestigious friends. Hiss wrote that Harvard was where his “early liberal outlook had been strengthened and given focus.” Much of this added “focus” resulted from the liberalism of Frankfurter himself, Hiss wrote.16 The available information about his thinking at Harvard supports this particular claim.


Initially, Hiss had wanted to pursue a career in the Foreign Service; a family friend and professor of international law, Manley Hudson, suggested law school as an avenue to prepare for entry into international diplomacy. Hiss enrolled at Harvard Law School in 1926. Going to Harvard Law was a defining experience, a formative and influential time in Hiss’s life. A review of the literature on Hiss contains very few details about his years at Harvard, where he excelled academically, and where he developed his liberal leanings as well as close friends and important contacts. However, a recent research paper by Ivan Chen provides an impressive, detailed account and fuller appreciation of the three years Hiss spent at law school.17
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